1940

John A. Malia and Herbert Taylor v. J. Harold Giles and Josie Baird Giles ; A. C. Moulton and Dewey Moulton v. Vernor E. Baird and Mary A. Baird, J. Rulon Morgan, J. Rulon Morgan as Partner of Morgan & Morgan, Elizabeth J. Baird, Bank of Heber City, Rulon F. Starley and Spencer C. Taylor, Arthur Duke and Eulean Duke, Ray F. Smith and Josie Baird Giles Smith, and J. Harold Giles ; J. Rulon Morgan v. Rulon F. Stanley and Spencer C. Taylor : Brief of Appellants

In the Supreme Court, State of Utah

JOHN A. MALIA, State Bank Commissioner of the State of Utah, and HERBERT TAYLOR, as Examiner in Charge of the Liquidation of the Bank of Heber City,

vs. Plaintiffs and Respondents,

J. HAROLD GILES and JOSIE BAIRD GILES, Defendants and Appellants.

1266
Civil

A. C. MOULTON and E. DEWEY MOULTON, vs. Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VERNOR E. BAIRD and MARY A. BAIRD, His Wife, J. RULON MORGAN, J. RULON MORGAN, as the Surviving Partner of the Firm of Morgan & Morgan, a Co-Partnership, ELIZABETH J. BAIRD, BANK OF HEBER CITY, RULON F. STARLEY, State Bank Commissioner of the State of Utah, and SPENCER C. TAYLOR, as Examiner in Charge of the Liquidation of the Bank of Heber City, ARTHUR DUKE and EULEAN DUKE, His Wife, RAY F. SMITH and JOSIE BAIRD GILES SMITH, His Wife, and J. HAROLD GILES, Defendants and Appellants.

1410
Civil

J. RULON MORGAN,

vs. Cross-Complainant,

RULON F. STARLEY, as Bank Commissioner of the State of Utah, and SPENCER C. TAYLOR, as Examiner in Charge of the Liquidation of the Bank of Heber City,

Cross-Defendants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

THERE ARE TWO CASES INVOLVED IN THIS CONTROVERSY.

The appellants, J. Rulon Morgan, J. Rulon Morgan as executor of the last will and testament of Elizabeth J. Baird, deceased, J. Rulon Morgan, as

the surviving partner of the firm of Morgan & Morgan, Vernor E. Baird and his wife, Mary A. Baird, Josie Baird Giles (Smith) and her husband, Ray F. Smith, jointly and severally prosecute this appeal from the judgment of the District Court of Wasatch County, Utah. The judgment appealed from disposes of the issues raised in two causes of action, one numbered 1266 Civil, and the other numbered 1410 Civil. The two causes were tried together, and, upon stipulation of counsel, the cases were consolidated for all purposes. (Tr. 117; Ab. 75). Substantially all of the issues raised by the plaintiffs in Cause No. 1266 Civil are also raised by the pleadings in Cause No. 1410 Civil.

STATEMENT OF CASE IN NUMBER 1266 CIVIL

In case numbered 1266 Civil the Bank of Heber City and its examiner in charge, Herbert Taylor, Bank Commissioner of Utah, brought an action against Josie Baird Giles and J. Harold Giles to recover judgment on a note executed by J. Harold Giles for the principal sum of Two Thousand, Five Hundred Fifty (\$2550.00) Dollars. The note is dated April 26, 1933. There is no controversy as to the amount owing on the note. The question which divides the parties in 1266 Civil is whether or not the Bank of Heber City, and those in control of its assets, has a lien on forty-nine shares of water stock in the Lake Creek Irrigation Company as security for the payment of the note sued upon. The plaintiffs in that case contended that they do have such a lien by reason of the certificates having been hypothecated to the Bank of Heber City as security for the note. The appellants contend to the contrary, because, as they claim, the name of Josie Baird Giles (Smith)

was forged on the certificates and that no authority was ever given to J. Harold Giles to hypothecate the water stock as security for the note. The court below held that the plaintiffs in that case had a lien upon the certificates and entered a decree directing that said certificates be sold and sufficient of the proceeds derived from such sale be applied to the payment of the note. Appellants prosecute this appeal and seek a reversal of that part of the decree which awards plaintiffs a lien on the certificates and directs that the same be sold at sheriff's sale and sufficient of the proceeds from the sale be applied to the payment of the note, attorneys' fees and costs.

STATEMENT OF CASE NO. 1410

In case No. 1410 Civil, A. C. Moulton and E. Dewey Moulton brought an action to recover a judgment on a note for the principal sum of Fifteen Thousand Dollars and to foreclose a mortgage on a tract of land, together with the certificates of water stock held by the Bank of Heber City and other water rights appurtenant to the land covered by the mortgage. The note and mortgage sued upon by the Moultons is signed by Vernor E. Baird and his wife, Mary A. Baird, in favor of Josie Baird Giles (Smith), but the Moultons claim title to the note and mortgage by reason of having attached and later purchased under an execution sale the note and mortgage in an action brought by the Moultons against J. Harold Giles and Josie Baird Giles. The appellants, by their various answers, deny that the Moultons have any right to maintain their action because:

1.

The note and mortgage which the Moultons seek to foreclose was, prior to the time the Moultons attempted to levy on the note and mortgage, by

mutual agreement of Josie Baird Giles (Smith), Vernor E. Baird and Elizabeth J. Baird cancelled, and that pursuant to such agreement, prior to the attempted purchase of the note and mortgage by the Moultons at the sheriff's sale, such mortgage was released and the land and water right covered by the mortgage conveyed to Elizabeth J. Baird.

2.

That the Moultons did not acquire any title to the note and mortgage which they seek to foreclose because:

(a) The note and mortgage which the Moultons seek to foreclose was held by George B. Stanley, attorney for Josie Baird Giles (Smith) and Vernor E. Baird, and by him turned over to the sheriff of Wasatch County so that such sheriff could sell the same to satisfy a claim in favor of the Moultons, who were also represented by Mr. Stanley when he delivered the note to the sheriff.

(b) That the attachment, the execution, the notice of sale and the attempted sale of the note and mortgage were each and all null and void because not conducted in conformity with law and therefore they have no right, title or interest in the note and mortgage.

(c) That the Moultons having paid only, or pretended to pay, the nominal sum of One Hundred Dollars for the note for Fifteen Thousand Dollars, together with several years accrued interest thereon, such sale is unconscionable and void.

(d) That in any event the Moultons acquired only such interest in the note and

mortgage as was owned by Josie Baird Giles (Smith) at the time of the levy, and Josie Baird Giles (Smith) having no interest, or at most a defeasible right to the note and mortgage, the Moultons, by the attachment and levy of execution and sale, acquired no enforceable right in the note and mortgage which they seek to foreclose.

(e) That prior to the pretended purchase of the note and mortgage, the mortgage had been released and the property conveyed to Elizabeth J. Baird, which release and conveyance were of record in the office of the County Recorder of Wasatch County, Utah.

In case No. 1266 Civil, J. Rulon Morgan filed a cross-complaint against the State Bank Commissioner, the Bank of Heber City and Spencer C. Taylor, examiner in charge of the Bank of Heber City, in which it is claimed that Elizabeth J. Baird is the owner of the water stock in any event because of having purchased the same from the Lake Creek Irrigation Company after that company had purchased that water stock because an assessment levied thereon had not been paid, and also because the water right represented by the certificate of water stock had been acquired by Elizabeth J. Baird by reason of adverse use of such water by Elizabeth J. Baird.

The court below held that the Moultons were the owners of the note and mortgage upon which they sue and directed that the mortgage be foreclosed and the proceeds of the sale thereof be applied to the payment of the judgment which the Moultons held against J. Harold Giles and Josie Baird Giles (Smith), which judgment is in the sum of Four

Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-four Dollars and sixty-seven cents, together with interest thereon from October 3, 1934, and costs in the sum of Fourteen Dollars twenty cents. The appellants prosecute this appeal to reverse the judgment in favor of the Moultons.

After the court below orally announced that the Bank of Heber City and its examiner in charge, Spencer C. Taylor, and the Bank Commissioner of Utah were entitled to prevail on their claim to a lien on the two certificates of water stock in the Lake Creek Irrigation Company, and also after the court below had orally announced that the Moultons were entitled to sue upon the fifteen thousand dollar note and foreclose the mortgage on the land and water stock mentioned and described in the mortgage, Josie Baird Giles (Smith) and J. Rulon Morgan, as executor of the estate of Elizabeth J. Baird, Deceased, filed a petition wherein Morgan, as executor of the estate of Elizabeth J. Baird, Deceased, sought to enforce a claim of homestead against the property involved in this controversy, by reason of the fact that Josie Baird Giles (Smith) had such claim at the time she conveyed the land and water stock covered by the mortgage to Elizabeth J. Baird and therefore Elizabeth J. Baird acquired an interest in the property so conveyed to her to the extent of any claim of homestead that Josie Baird Giles (Smith) had at the time of the conveyance to her mother, Elizabeth J. Baird. The court below denied any claim of a homestead. The appellants also attack that part of the judgment which denies the claim of a homestead for and on behalf of J. Rulon Morgan as executor of the last will and testament of Elizabeth J. Baird, Deceased.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR IN CAUSE NO. 1266 CIVIL

The appellants have fifty-five assignments of error. Of these assignments those numbered 9, 24, 25, 38, 39, 40, 41, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54 and 55, Ab. 225 to 244, attack the findings, conclusions of law and decree with respect to the claim of liens by the plaintiffs in cause numbered 1266, the Bank of Heber City, its examiner in charge of the liquidation thereof and the Bank Commissioner of Utah.

THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR DETERMINATION BY ASSIGNMENTS TOUCHING THE CLAIM OF A LIEN OF THE BANK OF HEBER CITY, THE EXAMINER IN CHARGE OF THE LIQUIDATION THEREOF AND THE BANK COMMISSIONER OF UTAH.

The questions presented for determination by the assignments affecting the claim of a lien of the Bank of Heber City, the examiner in charge of the liquidation thereof and the Bank Commissioner of Utah are these :

1.

May a husband, without the knowledge or consent of his wife, take certificates of water stock belonging to the wife and lawfully hypothecate the same to secure his personal note?

2.

If the husband takes such certificates of his wife without her knowledge or consent and hypothecates

them to secure his personal obligations to a bank, may such bank successfully maintain a lien on such certificates of stock as security for a note executed by the husband some four years after it first received the certificates, in the absence of the consent of the wife to have her water stock used by the husband for such purpose.

3.

May a bank successfully maintain the claim of being a bona fide holder for value of a certificate of stock where the blank endorsement on the back of such certificate is forged and known to be such by the officer of the bank who accepts the certificate as security for a loan.

4.

May a bank successfully maintain the claim of being a bona fide holder for value of a certificate of stock endorsed in very light lead pencil by a wife when such certificate is accompanied by another certificate of stock upon which the wife's signature is forged and the officer of the bank who accepts the certificates knows that the signature on the accompanying certificate is not that of the wife, where the husband presents the two certificates to secure a personal loan for himself.

5.

Does the fact that a husband attends to his wife's business and the wife occasionally draws checks on the husband's bank account preclude the wife from questioning the right of the bank to a lien on certificates of stock which have, without the knowledge or consent of the wife, been hypothecated to the

bank to secure the payment of his personal note, especially where there is no plea of an estoppel.

6.

May a bank which holds certificates of water stock maintain a lien thereon against one who has purchased the stock from the company which issued the same and which has levied an assessment thereon and because of non-payment of the assessment has purchased the same and resold it to another.

7.

May a bank which receives certificates of water stock from the husband of the owner thereof maintain a lien thereon where the water represented by the certificates of stock has been sold and by warranty deed conveyed to another who has used such water adversely under a claim of right for ten years prior to the time such owner's right is brought in question.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR TOUCHING THE CLAIMS OF THE MOULTONS, PLAINTIFFS IN CAUSE 1410 CIVIL.

Of the fifty-five assignments of error filed, those numbered 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 45, 47, 49, 51, 52, 53, 54 and 55 attack the proceedings had and the findings, conclusions and judgment made in favor of A. C. Moulton and E. Dewey Moulton, who were the plaintiffs in cause numbered 1410 Civil.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR DETERMINATION IN THE ACTION BROUGHT BY THE MOULTONS IN CAUSE NO. 1410 CIVIL.

The questions presented for determination as to the Moultons, who were the plaintiffs in Cause No. 1410 Civil, are as follows:

1.

Does the preponderance of the evidence support the finding made by the court below to the effect that no agreement was had between Vernor E. Baird, Josie Baird Giles (Smith) and Elizabeth J. Baird, whereby the fifteen thousand dollar note was cancelled, the mortgage given to secure the same released, and the property covered by the mortgage conveyed by Vernor E. Baird to Elizabeth J. Baird in payment of money owing by Josie Baird Giles (Smith) to Elizabeth J. Baird.

2.

George B. Stanley having acted for Josie Baird Giles (Smith) and Vernor E. Baird in preparing the documents whereby Josie Baird Giles (Smith) sold and conveyed the land and water right to Vernor E. Baird and the note and mortgage from Vernor E. Baird and his wife to Josie Baird Giles (Smith), and he, George B. Stanley, having retained possession of the note, may a valid attachment or a valid sale under execution be made by a sheriff where the note was delivered to the sheriff by George B. Stanley so that he, George B. Stanley, and his other clients the Moultons, could collect their judgment against Josie Baird Giles (Smith) and J. Harold Giles.

3.

Was the affidavit of the Moultons for a writ of

attachment a sufficient compliance with the provisions of R. S. U. 1933, 104-18-1 and 104-18-3 to authorize the county clerk of Wasatch County, Utah to issue a writ of attachment.

4.

Did the wilful delivery of the note to the sheriff of Wasatch County, Utah, by George B. Stanley, the agent and attorney of Josie Baird Giles (Smith), without her knowledge or consent, constitute a valid levy of attachment or an execution sale of the note.

5.

Does the preponderance of the evidence, or any of the evidence, support the finding that George B. Stanley did not have possession of the note involved in this controversy as the attorney for Vernor E. Baird or Josie Baird Giles (Smith), or any of the defendants.

6.

Was the bond furnished by the Moultons for the writ of attachment a sufficient compliance with the provisions of R. S. U. 1933, 104-18-4 to authorize the sheriff to attach the note in question.

7.

Does the return of the sheriff show that he complied with the law in advertising the note for sale.

8.

Was it competent for the Moultons to show, over the objections of the appellants, that the return made by the sheriff was not in conformity with the facts.

9.

Does the evidence, including the testimony of the

sheriff, show that the notice of the time and place of the sale was posted as by law required.

10.

Does the preponderance of the evidence show that the sheriff sold the note to the Moultons as by the notice directed, or that the time of sale mentioned in the notice was postponed.

11.

Will a court of equity sustain the sale of a secured note for fifteen thousand dollars, together with several years accrued interest thereon, for the sum of one hundred dollars.

12.

In light of the fact that the water stock which Josie Baird Giles (Smith) sold to Vernor E. Baird was held and claimed by the Bank of Heber City, did not Vernor E. Baird have an absolute right to rescind the contract for the purchase of the land and water right covered by the mortgage and convey the property back to Josie Baird Giles (Smith) or her nominee, Elizabeth J. Baird.

13.

If Vernor E. Baird had an absolute right to rescind the contract of sale and purchase of the land and water right and the giving of the note and mortgage as evidence of the purchase price as against Josie Baird Giles (Smith), did he not also have such right as against any claim the Moultons may have acquired by the purchase of the note.

14.

Does the evidence support the finding that Elizabeth J. Baird did not, during her lifetime, purchase certificates No. 64 and 68 from the Lake Creek

Irrigation Company, which had acquired such certificates by purchasing the same to pay delinquent assessments thereon.

15.

Did not Josie Baird Giles (Smith) have a right to the claim of a homestead to the note in question which she had an absolute right to release upon the condition that Vernor E. Baird convey the property covered by the mortgage in question to her mother, Elizabeth J. Baird.

ARGUMENT TOUCHING THE CLAIMED LIEN
OF THE BANK OF HEBER CITY AND ITS
SUCCESSORS.

In the main there is no conflict in the evidence touching the claimed lien of the Bank of Heber City and its successors. These facts are established without any conflict in the evidence:

Prior to May 21, 1929, J. Harold Giles had, from time to time, borrowed money from the Bank of Heber City, and given his notes as evidence of the loans. On or about May 21, 1929 he executed a renewal note for Seventeen Hundred Dollars (Tr. 181; Ab. 151). At the time the Seventeen Hundred Dollar note was given to the bank, J. Harold Giles deposited with the bank two certificates of stock in the Lake Creek Irrigation Company. On the back of each certificate was endorsed in blank the name of Josie Baird Giles. In neither of the certificates was there a specified person named as endorsee. There was a blank space for the endorsee, but the blank was not filled in. The signature of Josie

Baird Giles on Certificate No. 68 is not her signature. (Finding 24; Ab. 95). All of the evidence supports that finding. The signature on Certificate No. 64 is written in very faint lead pencil. There is a cross in front of the signature. The court found that the signature on Certificate No. 64 is the signature of Josie Baird Giles (Finding 24; Ab. 95). There is a conflict in the evidence as to whether or not the signature on Certificate No. 64 is that of Josie Baird Giles. J. Harold Giles testified that the signature on the back of Certificate No. 64 looks like the signature of Josie Baird Giles and that he would say it was her signature. (Tr. 299; Ab. 176). Josie Baird Giles testified that the signature on Certificate No. 64 looked something like her signature but that her best judgment was that it was not her signature. (Tr. 258 to 263; Ab. 166 to 169).

All of the evidence is to the effect that Josie Baird Giles did not authorize anyone to sign her name to either of the certificates and that she did not authorize her then husband, J. Harold Giles, to deliver the same to the Bank of Heber City as security for any loan. (Testimony of Josie Baird Giles, Tr. 258-259; Ab. 168). Such is also the effect of the testimony of J. Harold Giles (Tr. 295 to 299; Ab. 175-176). While the name of W. Emer Murdock appears as a witness to the signature of Josie Baird Giles, no claim is made by Mr. Murdock, or anyone, that Josie signed either of the certificates in his presence. Mr. Murdock placed his signature on the certificates so that they could be turned over to the Federal Reserve Bank as security. (Tr. 183; Ab. 151). Thus the evidence shows, without conflict, that Josie Baird Giles did not authorize her then husband, J. Harold Giles, to hypothecate

either of the certificates to secure the loan made to J. Harold Giles.

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