1940

John A. Malia and Herbert Taylor v. J. Harold Giles and Josie Baird Giles ; A. C. Moulton and Dewey Moulton v. Vernor E. Baird and Mary A. Baird, J. Rulon Morgan, J. Rulon Morgan as Partner of Morgan & Morgan, Elizabeth J. Baird, Bank of Heber City, Rulon F. Starley and Spencer C. Taylor, Arthur Duke and Eulean Duke, Ray F. Smith and Josie Baird Giles Smith, and J. Harold Giles ; J. Rulon Morgan v. Rulon F. Stanley and Spencer C.

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

(See Appellants’ Brief, pages 25 to 27 and 54).

The evidence does not show that Lake Creek Irrigation Company ever acquired title to the stock. The stock in question has at all times stood in the name of Josie Baird Giles (Tr. 315-16, Ab. 184). No notice of the assessment or sale was ever given to Josie Baird Giles (Tr. 303, 304, 317, Ab. 178, 184). This was the only sale ever held by the Company (Tr. 317, Ab. 184). Assuming, however, that the Company had title to the stock, there is no record that the Company ever sold the stock

to Elizabeth J. Baird. On the contrary the records show that it was redeemed by Vernor. The following is taken from the minutes of the Company as read in evidence by Judge Hansen (Tr. 307, Ab. 180):

“ ‘Resolved that the stock sold for assessment and bought in by the Lake Creek Irrigation Company at their meeting of April 1, 1933 has been redeemed by the following stockholders by paying all obligations on the stock.

“ ‘Therefore, Be It Resolved that the old certificates be surrendered and the President and Secretary of the Company be authorized to issue new certificates to release the stock from the Treasury of the Company. The following shares were bought in by the Company April 8, 1933.’

“ ‘There are ten names written on the page and opposite the names are figures under the word ‘shares’. Among those names is Vernor Baird without the number of shares and a mere ditto mark, then it continues:

“ ‘The Secretary was authorized to pay the amount due Mrs. Baird as soon as the money is collected from the delinquent assessments.’ ”

Since the stock was redeemed by “the following stockholders”, Vernor Baird was the one who redeemed this stock.

No minutes appear anywhere in the records showing a sale to Elizabeth Baird. Mr. Crook, President of the Company, testified that the water stock was never sold to her (Tr. 214).

We particularly request the Court to refer to the Transcript, and not to the abstract, for this testimony, because the abstract report (pages 156-7) is at variance with the Transcript on this point. We submit that the testimony as given fails to show a sale of water stock to Elizabeth Baird at any time.

At page 213 of the Transcript appears the following:

“Q. And as these assessments fell due from time to time you merely took the assessments out of the money that the corporation was owing Mrs. Baird, isn't that it?

“A. No, sir; not always.

“Q. Well, I understand but most of the time?

“A. No, sir.

“Q. Do you know what part of this time as shown by these books?

“A. I know of one instance, yes, sir.

“Q. Is that all?

“A. That is all.”

At page 214 of the Transcript appears the following:

“Q. Do you recall at a time when the company agreed to sell it to Mrs. Elizabeth J. Baird?

“A. Not to Mrs. Elizabeth J. Baird, no sir.”

Except for the \$132.20 applied in 1934 on a portion of the cost of redemption by Vernor Baird the money owing

to Elizabeth by the Lake Creek Irrigation Company was paid from monies collected on assessments and applied on her note in favor of Hylton (Tr. 302-307, Ab. 177-181).

Appellants state at page 26 of their Brief that:

“The only reason a new certificate was not issued to Elizabeth J. Baird was because the old certificates were not surrendered to the Company.”

We submit that the testimony has nothing to do with a transfer to Elizabeth. Her name is not mentioned in connection with this testimony (Tr. 312, Ab. 182). It is much more likely that Mr. Crook had in mind a transfer of the stock to Vernor rather than a transfer of the stock to Elizabeth. If the stock had been sold to Elizabeth on the title of the Company secured by assessment, it would not have been necessary to secure the stock certificates as they would have been cancelled through failure to pay the assessments. However, for a transfer to Vernor from Josie the surrender of the certificates would have been necessary. We submit therefore that Mr. Crook, the President of the Company, could only have been thinking of a transfer from Josie to Vernor when he said that the transfer had not been made because “they couldn’t give us the old certificates”. In any event the name of Elizabeth J. Baird is not mentioned in connection with this statement. It appears to have been common knowledge that Vernor was using the water and he was treated in many respects as the owner on the books of the Company.

DO THE CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH THE NOTE WAS
LEVIED ON PRECLUDE THE MOULTONS FROM CLAIMING
TITLE TO THE NOTE?

(See pages 39 to 44 of Appellants' Brief).

We claim five distinct reasons, each of them adequate in itself, why George B. Stanley's possession of the note in no way precludes the Moultons from suit thereon or claiming title thereto:

1. The relationship of attorney and client has never existed between George B. Stanley and Josie Baird Giles.

2. Josie was told by Mr. Stanley to come and get the promissory note.

3. Josie was told long prior to the attachment that if the Moulton notes were not paid the \$15,000.00 note would be attached.

4. Neither Josie nor anyone on her behalf ever demanded the note until after it was in the hands of the Sheriff.

5. Josie has waived any objection to the circumstances of the attachment by failing to raise the objection in the action wherein the note was attached and sold on execution.

The following facts were testified to at the trial, there being no dispute as to the major portion of such testimony. The note and mortgage were prepared in 1929 by George B. Stanley at the request of Vernor Baird (Tr. 397, 410 and 411, Ab. 208, 211). Josie did not

request the work done or pay for the same. She did not testify that she ever had any other conversation with Stanley except that she demanded the note, she says, in 1933. Mr. Stanley says not until after it was in the hands of the sheriff (Tr. 398, Ab. 208). The relation of attorney and client therefore did not exist. George Stanley was not admitted to practice law until a year and a half after the preparation of the note and mortgage (Tr. 410, Ab. 211). The deed and mortgage were delivered to Vernor Baird (Tr. 410-411, Ab. 211). Vernor Baird recorded both of these documents (see Plaintiffs' Exhibit 2). Mr. Stanley testified that he wrote letters to Josie asking her to come and get the note (Tr. 398, Ab. 208). Josie was very certain that she received no letters at all from Mr. Stanley at any time (Tr. 107, Ab. 135, 136) though she had corresponded with Mr. Stanley on the subject as shown by her letter (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 6) which when shown to her, she admitted (Tr. 119, Ab. 138). Mr. Stanley called on Josie and her husband Harold in Heber City to get a settlement on the Moulton notes (Tr. 399, Ab. 208). He told her on at least three different occasions that if she didn't pay the Moulton notes he would attach the \$15,000.00 promissory note (Tr. 400, 412, Ab. 208, 211). Mr. Stanley testified that neither Josie nor anyone else ever demanded the note until after it had been taken by the Sheriff (Tr. 400, 401, 412, 415, Ab. 208, 209, 211, 212). Josie could have had the note at any time if she had asked for it (Tr. 413, Ab. 211). Appellants argue that under the circumstances it would have been unnatural for Josie not to have demand-

ed her note. If Josie expected to pay her notes to the Moultons, she would not necessarily have been concerned about her \$15,000.00 note remaining with George Stanley. We may assume that her intentions were honest at the time.

It must not be forgotten that there is no question in this case as to the delivery of the Vernor Baird note to Josie for the purpose of closing the transaction wherein she sold the farm and took a purchase money note and mortgage. The plaintiffs and defendants both so allege in their pleadings. Throughout the trial it was admitted that Vernor went into possession of the property and made a payment thereon. That the transaction was closed so far as Josie was concerned was beyond question. In the preparation of the note and mortgage Mr. Stanley received no information which was not clearly disclosed by the public records in the County Recorder's Office. The mortgage was recorded November 12, 1929 (see Plaintiffs' Exhibit 2). If Josie can avoid paying what is admittedly an honest debt to the Moultons by leaving the note with Mr. Stanley that is indeed a new way to avoid creditors. Surely the law should favor the payment of obligations rather than avoidance of them.

After George Stanley had informed Josie that he would attach the Vernor Baird note he filed suit on July 7, 1934 and Summons was served on the Defendants on that day. A Demurrer was filed on behalf of Josie Baird Giles on July 28, 1934 and another Demurrer was filed on behalf of J. Harold Giles on August 8, 1934. Prior

to the filing of the Demurrers a default had been entered which was set aside on motion of the attorney for the plaintiff. On the 20th day of August the Demurrers were overruled and notice thereof given to Morgan and Morgan. Default was again entered on October 1, 1934. Notice by the Sheriff that the promissory note which had been levied upon was admittedly mailed and received by Morgan and Morgan on January 25, 1935 (see Exhibit 12). In all of these proceedings the defendants though represented by attorneys never raised the question of the legality of the attachment and levy. We believe that Josie still thought she would pay her honest obligations. If she had any objection to the attachment and levy it should have been raised in those proceedings and she is now precluded from any such objection. See authorities cited in the next subdivision of this brief. We further call attention of the Court to the fact that Vernor Baird in 1938 went to George Stanley for further advice (Tr. 403, Ab. 209). At least that was the contention and certain evidence was excluded on that ground. If George B. Stanley was guilty of failure to deliver the note upon demand, is it likely that Vernor would have further consulted him as an attorney at law? To enforce the promissory note will aid the enforcement of an honest obligation such as was intended by the parties. If it is denied, the payment of a just obligation may be avoided. The Court knows of its own knowledge that the town of Heber City is a small country town. There are only two or three lawyers practicing there. Business transactions are pretty well known to everyone. George Stanley knew

no more with regard to this transaction by reason of his having prepared the instruments than he would have otherwise known. As an abstracter the whole matter necessarily came to his attention from the public records. The Trial Court found that the relationship of attorney and client never existed between Mr. Stanley and Josie. We do not see how any other finding could be made when there is no testimony that Josie ever went to Mr. Stanley's office except for the purpose of signing a deed. We call attention again to the fact that she never testified to any conversation ever had with Mr. Stanley regarding the making of these papers. She never employed him or paid him any money. If the contention of the appellants is correct that the knowledge acquired by Mr. Stanley in the preparation of this note could not be used, then the levy would have been just as invalid if the note had been in the possession of Josie herself or any other party, since it could still be contended that Mr. Stanley first learned of the note by reason of his having prepared it. The attack upon the attachment in these proceedings is collateral. Unless the attachment is void, the matter may not be raised here. See authorities cited in the next subdivision of this brief.

IS PLAINTIFF'S TITLE TO THE PROMISSORY NOTE AFFECTED
BY THE CLAIMED DEFECTS IN THE AFFIDAVIT FOR WRIT
OF ATTACHMENT?

(See pages 44 to 48 of Appellants' Brief).

The evidence shows that the writ of attachment was issued July 7, 1934 (plaintiffs' exhibit 1) and that

the sheriff took the note into his possession on that date (Tr. 8, Ab. 114). The writ of attachment was served on the defendants on July 7, 1934. Default was thereafter entered and was set aside on motion of plaintiffs' attorney. Demurrers were filed by the defendants which were overruled. Judgment was subsequently taken. The writ of execution was issued Dec. 19, 1934 while the sheriff still had possession of the note. There is no question in this case as to intervening rights between the date of the attachment and the date of writ of execution. The transfers appearing in the abstract were not dated until Jan. 26, 1935, and thereafter. The most that can be claimed for a defective attachment is that the date of priority changes to Dec. 19, 1934 instead of July 7, 1934, which in no way affects the rights of the parties. However, we believe that under the pleadings there is no question before the Court as to the validity of the writ of attachment. The plaintiffs allege in their complaint, paragraph 7, (Ab. 31):

“that on said 7th day of July, 1934, said note and mortgage were attached by the sheriff of Wasatch County under and by virtue of a writ of attachment issued in said action.”

The answer of Vernor E. Baird and Mary A. Baird, which was adopted by the other defendants, recites in paragraph 2 (Ab. 40):

“these answering defendants admit that the sheriff of Wasatch County attached the note and mortgage mentioned in plaintiffs' complaint in

the manner and under the circumstances herein-after alleged and not otherwise.”

The circumstances thereafter alleged are the circumstances as to the possession of the note by George B. Stanley. It appears, therefore, that the attachment is admitted by the pleadings, except so far as it is affected by the possession of Mr. Stanley. The defendants having admitted the attachment cannot be heard to complain of any irregularity. The defendants further waived any such irregularity by their appearance in the suit. The following statement is made in 4 *Am. Jur.*, page 932, Sec. 617:

“It is generally held that if a defendant in an attachment proceeding wishes to take advantage of any defect or irregularity in the proceeding, he must do so by motion or plea before answering to the merits, and that if he makes a general appearance or answers to the merits before such motion or plea, the defect or irregularity will be waived.”

See also *Sec. 616 on the same page, and Sec. 649 at page 940; 6 C. J. 433, Sec. 1004; 6 C. J. 441 as to attack on attachment after judgment.*

The question of the regularity of the attachment cannot be raised in a collateral proceeding but must be by direct attack. The following is a statement to that effect in 5 *Am. Jur.* page 174, Sec. 957:

“The record and judgment in the main action in an attachment or garnishment proceeding is

conclusive to the extent that other judicial records and judgments are conclusive. Such a judgment is not open to collateral attack unless it is void for lack of jurisdiction in the court rendering it, or was fraudulently secured. Defects and irregularities in the attachment suit are not open to inquiry in a collateral suit unless they were of such character as to void the attachment or garnishment and deprive the Court of jurisdiction in the proceedings.”

That the defect in the affidavit does not make the attachment void see *Annotation in 72 A. L. R. 120 at page 122*. The same is true of a defective bond. See the same *Annotation*, page 125.

IS THE EXECUTION FATALLY DEFECTIVE?

(See Appellants' Brief, page 48).

Appellants complain of the fact that the writ of execution did not require the Sheriff to satisfy the judgment out of the property attached as required by *Section 104-37-2, Subdivision (3), R. S. U. 1933*. The Sheriff had possession of the promissory note at the time the execution was issued. The defendants had been served with summons, had appeared in the action, and judgment had been rendered against them. The attachment proceedings were not necessary to give the Court jurisdiction, as the Court had personal jurisdiction of the Defendants. The failure of the writ of execution to require the officer to satisfy the same out of the attached property could do no more than give a date of priority as of the date of the writ of execution, which was

December 19th instead of July 7th. No party has been prejudiced by the failure of the writ to include the recital. The property attached was in fact retained in the possession of the Sheriff and sold on execution. Everything was done exactly as it would have been done had the writ of execution complied with *subdivision (3) of Sec. 104-37-2, R. S. U. 1933*. The defect, under the circumstances, is at most an irregularity which may not be attacked collaterally and has been waived by failure to raise the question in the prior case. *See 23 C. J. 693, Section 691* and authorities cited in portion of this Brief on the attachment question.

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